

Fibrosis

Guide to insight into fibrosis development and signaling pathways



INTRODUCTION Purpose and scope

WHAT TO EXPECT

Welcome to this Fibrosis Booklet, a document that helps scientists and researchers appreciate and navigate the cellular and signaling actors of the development of fibrotic pathologies and disorders. We hope the visuals provided in this document will help shed light on and clarify the understanding you have of these mechanisms. This document is organized around the cellular and molecular actors of fibrosis, and how they contribute to the disease develoment. An introductory section covers the fundamental notions and actors of fibrosis in terms of cells, activation pathways and extracellular matrix homeostasis. It is followed by a section dedicated to development of fibrotic disorders from wound-healing mechanisms. Details are given about the innate and adaptive arms of immunity that contribute to pro-fibrotic environments, as well as an overview of the current therapeutic approaches being explored to improve fibrosis management. The last section looks at two major organ-specific fibrotic disorders and reviews the specificity of each in terms of fibrosis development. It also gives an insight into fibrosis in the context of oncology as the fibrotic environment of tumor has become a key element in our understanding of cancer. The collection of molecular pathways presented in the document was prepared based on authentic and highly regarded articles and journals. Numbers in brackets throughout the booklet correlate with the references used, and all pathways have been curated for scientific knowledge and accuracy by Revvity's scientific team.

WHY THIS GUIDE?

This new guide continues Revvity's tradition of providing collections of specialized documents dedicated to different therapeutic areas such as immunology, autoimmunity, neurosciences, diabetes, and NAFLD. We also provide more practical guides covering the expertise of Revvity's scientists in assay development and performance.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

(e)

INTRODUCTION Fibrosis at a Glance

Upon injury or illness, the human body has an impressive repertoire of machinery in place for defense, self-preservation and self-healing. One important protective mechanism for tissue regeneration and wound healing is the formation of extracellular matrix (ECM), which acts as a glue holding broken tissues together, filling the space left after cellular death, and providing a medium suitable for the growth of new tissues. Fibrosis is a dangerous condition where an excessive accumulation of ECM, in response to chronic injury or illness, leads to organ disfunction and failure (1). The United States government estimates that 45% of deaths in the US can be attributed to fibrotic disorders and some examples of potentially fatal fibrotic diseases include idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, renal fibrosis (chronic kidney disease), hepatic cirrhosis, and cardiac fibrosis. Currently, there are few treatments that can halt disease progression.

Fibrosis and its associated fibrotic disorders are prevalent pathologies that stem from inflammation mis regulation, which is a shared and central part of numerous pathologies including oncology disorders, autoimmunity, neurodegenerative diseases, and metabolic disorders such as diabetes or NAFLD. For this reason, fibrosis is an elusive disease whose causes and ramifications are multiple and make it a companion pathology to other disorders.



Click to Enlarge

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

(e)



Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

Bibliography

revvity

GENERAL KNOWLEDGE Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts

FIBROBLASTS AT A GLANCE

Fibroblasts are one of the most abundant cell types in connective tissues, where they reside in a widely-spaced manner and anchor themselves via focal adhesion points involving integrin and fibronectin complexes connected to their actin cytoskeleton. They exhibit a typical elongated spindle shape or a stellate shape with indented nucleus morphology that is conserved throughout the whole body (2,3). Despite their conserved morphology, the gene expression profile of fibroblasts is dependent on their location and immediate environment, which results in a collection of phenotypically different subpopulations (4,5). The main variables between said subpopulations include surface markers, cytoskeletal characteristics and cytokine profiles (6). It is worth noting that fibroblasts are not a terminally differentiated cell type but rather quiescent precursors to myofibroblasts. The latter are promoted by TGF-B1 signaling and express significant amounts of cytokines, ECM proteins (extracellular matrix) and a-SMA (a-smooth actin). They have roles related to inflammation, connective tissue elaboration (ECM) and tissue mechanics (7,8,9). The involvement of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in inflammation and ECM production made them hotspot in fibrosis research; the mechanism that regulate the differentiation step being one of their most investigated aspects.

Fibroblast are commonly split in two main groups depending on their surface expression of the glycoprotein Thy-1, which is a reliable marker for different cytokine profiles, propensity to differentiate into myofibroblasts and fibrotic properties. Thy-1-expressing fibroblasts exhibit less fibrotic properties than their Thy-1-negative counterparts. Actually, pro-inflammatory mediators IL-1 and TNF- α and pro-fibrotic TGF- β 1 have respectfully be shown to induce the loss of Thy-1 expression *in vitro* (6,7,10).



Click to Enlarge

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

fe∖

GENERAL KNOWLEDGE Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts

ROLES OF FIBROBLASTS AND MYOFIBROBLASTS

Fibroblasts' best-known role is the production, maintenance and reabsorption of the ECM (extracellular matrix) that makes up connective tissues and holds tissues and organs together. They produce its components as well as the enzymes in charge of its degradation and remodeling. The ECM is a cell-free nutrient-rich media that connects cells and acts as an avenue for migration, differentiation and proliferation among other functions (see pages 19-22).

Fibroblasts are circumstantial actors and do not always differentiate to secrete and remodel the ECM. They work in coordination with inflammation signals which they are able to both respond to and emit via cytokines (TGF- β 1, IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-13, IL-33), protaglandins and leukotrienes (11,12). The processes of fibroblasts differentiation into myofibroblasts is partly under the control of those mediators, especially TGF- β 1 (13). Once activated, fibroblasts and myofibroblasts are a source of cytokines and chemokines (TGF- β 1, IL-1 β , IL-33) on injury sites, which contribute to attract more fibroblasts and immune cells on site to resolve the injury. Additionally, the migration of those cells to the site is facilitated by the ECM secretion of fibroblasts. The inflammatory role of fibroblasts is such that they have grown to become a therapeutic topic of their own in chronic inflammation disorders (12,14,15).

In relation to their inflammatory properties and ECM secretion role, fibroblasts are major actors of the wound healing and tissue repair process. Their inflammation sensing abilities draw them to injury sites while the a-SMArelated contractile properties of myofibroblasts is key in sealing open wounds and the ECM they secrete serves as a new ground to both neutralize injury sources and grow new cells and tissues.

Finally, as part of their wound healing roles; fibroblast promote the establishment of new blood vessels through angiogenesis with two elements. First is the ECM they elaborate, which as cell-free and growth factor and nutrient-rich medium acts as an avenue for endothelial cell migration during angiogenesis. Second, fibroblasts express VEGF under the influence of TGF- β 1; which targets endothelial cells' VEGFR receptor and promotes angiogenesis (16,12,17).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

(e)



Introduction

 \times

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

Bibliography

revvity

GENERAL KNOWLEDGE TGF- β 1 signaling

Transforming growth factor beta (TGF-b) and especially TGF- β 1 is a growth factor responsible for several injury and inflammation-related mechanisms including fibroblast regulation, ECM management, immunity, immuno-regulation, proliferation, survival and differentiation. Multiple studies have pointed out TGF- β 1 role in promoting fibrosis in most tissues, but its involvement in multiple systems makes it an unrealistic direct therapeutic target (18). For that reason, TGF- β 1 signaling pathways and partners are usually considered better therapeutic approaches to fibrotic disorders. TGF- β 1 signaling can be split in three parts: canonical SMAD-dependent, non-canonical SMAD-dependent and non-canonical SMAD-independent pathways such as ERK1/2, JNK, p38 MAPKs, JAK/STAT and ROCK kinases (19).

TGF-β1 canonical pathway is SMAD-dependent and signals through the transmembrane serine/threonine kinases TGF-B1 type II (TbRII) and type I (ALK5) receptors. TGF-β1 binds TbRII, which in turn recruits and associates with ALK5. The newly formed complex phosphorylates SMAD2 and SMAD3 which associate in the SMAD2/3 complex before recruiting SMAD4. The resulting SMAD2/3/4 complex acts as a transcription factor that promotes the expression of a pro-fibrotic phenotype (ECM genes including collagen genes COL1AL1, COL3A1, TIMP1 and 60 other ECM-related genes). SMAD7 has been identified as a regulatory feedback inhibitor for this pathway. Along with pro-fibrotic genes, SMAD2/3/4 also promotes the expression of YB-1, a transcription factor for SMAD7, which then acts as a regulatory inhibitor by competing with SMAD2 and SMAD3 for binding to ALK5. SMAD7 also acts as an adaptor between the TbRII/ALK5 complex and the ubiguitin ligase Smurf2 (SMAD ubiquitin regulatory factor), which labels said complex for degradation by proteasomes (20-25). IFN-g is also an inhibitor of this pathway that proved efficient in research on IPF (26,27). In vivo studies found it directly inhibits collagen production by the myofibroblasts via an inhibition of the

TGF- β 1-induced phosphorylation of SMAD3 and a promotion of SMAD7 through JAK1/STAT1 (28,29,30).

Non-canonical SMAD-dependent TGF- β 1 signaling involves ALK1, another version of the TGF-b type I receptor. The occurrence of that pathway is not fully understood but seems to be cell-type-dependent. TGF- β 1 binds ALK1, which in turn recruits and associates with ALK5. The newly formed complex phosphorylates SMAD1 and SMAD5 which associate in the SMAD1/5 complex before recruiting SMAD4. This step has an inhibitory effect on SMAD2/3. The resulting SMAD1/5/4 complex acts as a transcription factor that promotes the expression of a pro-fibrotic phenotype. Part of that pathway regulation is made by SMAD6, which competes with SMAD4 to associate with SMAD1/5 complex (20,25,31–33).



Click to Enlarge

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development





Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development



GENERAL KNOWLEDGE TGF- β 1 signaling

Non-canonical smad-independent pathways are also activated with results in the range of cell survival, proliferation, increase in cell size, inflammation and sometimes apoptosis (20,34–36)

- ERK: TbRII/ALK5 complex recruits Grb2/SOS complex which converts Ras GDP in Ras GTP. Raf is activated and phosphorylates MEK1/2 which phosphorylate ERK1/2. ERK goes on to promote transcription factors Fos and c-Jun. ERK can directly phosphorylate SMAD proteins in linker regions which prevents their association in complex and downregulates SMAD signaling.
- JNK/p38 MAPK: TbRII/TbRI complex recruits and signals through TRAF6/ TAK1 which activates MKK4, MKK3/6 and IKK (SMAD6 acts as an inhibitor of that step). These respectively activate JNK (then c-Jun), p38 (then its transcription factors) and NFkB. JNK phosphorylate linkers in SMAD2/3 proteins which prevents association in complex and downregulates SMAD signaling.
- P13K-AKT: P13K phosphorylates AKT which inactivates FoXO (downregulation of cell proliferation). Non-phosphorylated AKT regulates SMAD3 activity by inhibiting its phosphorylation while phosphorylated AKT promotes SMAD3 activity by inhibiting the SMAD3 inhibitor GSK3.
- JAK2/STAT3: ALK5 activates JAK2, which phosphorylates STAT3, which dimerizes and translocates to the nucleus where it acts as a transcription factor. The stimulation of this JAK2/STAT3 axis by TGF-β1 has been found to correlate which fibrotic phenotype in cell models. Additionally, STAT3 was found to also be phosphorylated by other kinases associated with pathological fibrotic patterns (SRC, JNK).

 ROCK kinases (Rho-associated coiled-coil containing kinase): Rho-like GTPase RhoA (also promoted by the action of SMAD2/3/4 complex on DNA) activates ROCKs (ROCK1/2), which phosphorylate MLC and cofilin. The latters respectively promote myosin phosphorylation and actomyosin contractility and actin filament stabilization, which regulates cell morphology, proliferation, adhesion and mechanical properties. This cytoskeletal regulation is thought to be linked to myofibroblast differentiation due to the importance of mechanical and cytoskeletal properties in that process (see pages 15-18).



Click to Enlarge

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

(e)



Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development



GENERAL KNOWLEDGE Myofibroblasts and their differentiation

Myofibroblasts are the terminally differentiated stage of fibroblasts, with increased ECM secretion abilities, a-SMA-rich cytoskeleton, wound healing and inflammatory properties. They appear to mostly differentiate from quiescent fibroblasts, but it has also been found they can have multiple progenitors depending on their location and therefore may arise from epithelial cells, endothelial cells, bone-marrow-borne fibrocytes, hepatocytes or other organ specific cells (37). Myofibroblasts are one of the main topics of interest in fibrosis research due to their significantly enhanced ECM secretion, which in spite of being the foundation of wound-healing, also seems to be the main out-of-control mechanism that promotes fibrotic scarring and disorders.

With the notable exception of few other mediators like IL-6, the myofibroblast ECM-production phenotype requires TGF- β 1 to express itself. Additionally, in the case of IL-6, collaboration with autocrine TGF- β 1 has not been ruled out. Once differentiated, that phenotype is not dependent on TGF- β 1 to persist (13,38). TGF- β 1 also appears to be necessary for the a-SMA expressing phenotype (39,40). It is not entirely clear in which proportions the different TGF- β 1 signaling pathways contribute to myofibroblast differentiation, but non-canonical ones are believed to be involved along the canonical signaling (7,37,41).

Interestingly, ECM protein production and a-SMA expression are not distinct phenotypes but work together to achieve a fully differentiated stage characterized by an a-SMA rich cytoskeleton and outstanding secretion abilities. Some studies have found that a-SMA is necessary for the full expression of the ECM production phenotype, which suggests cytoskeletal re-organization to be a milestone on the way to fibrosis development (7,42). Additional research found the mechanical environment is critical to the full phenotype with implications of the ECM stiffness and structure. A damaged or broken ECM promotes the phenotype by introducing intracellular tension, which promotes a-SMA as a reaction (43,44).



Click to Enlarge

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development





Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

revvit

Bibliography

13 | www.revvity.com

GENERAL KNOWLEDGE Myofibroblasts and their differentiation

Fibroblasts differentiation into myofibroblasts is understood as a two-stage process (37,45)

- · Resting fibroblasts are usually stranded in the ECM and have low levels of ECM protein secretion and no a-SMA incorporated in their structure. They are activated by stress, either inflammatory in the form of mediators and mechanical in the form of an open wound or damaged matrix, which pull on their cortical actin cytoskeleton via the fibronectin complex that connect them the ECM. When activated, fibroblasts are drawn along inflammatory mediator gradients and migrate from the ECM to injury sites where they initiate differentiation under the influence of growth factors, especially TGF-β1, but also FGFs (22 fibroblast growth factors targeting FGFRs) or PDGF (46,47). Said growth factors are usually stored in the ECM via binding proteins, the rupture of the ECM integrity releases those and make them available for activated fibroblasts (48). At that point, fibroblasts become proto-myofibroblasts that start to organize their cytoskeleton differently and incorporate more cytoplasmic actin filaments. They also start to organize the extracellular fibronectin into fibronexus-adhesion complex (extracellular fibronectin associated to cytoplasmic actin filaments) (49). The cell begins to include focal adhesion sites to which it ties both its new actin filaments (intracellular) and fibronectin (extracellular).
- The primed proto-myofibroblast is now susceptible of getting fully activated. Three elements have been identified as critical to the full differentiation. First, TGF-β1 remains necessary at that stage. Second, the mechanical tension proto-myofibroblasts received is significantly increased by the more rigid actin cytoskeleton and anchorage points in the form of fibronexus-adhesion complexes; as the tension triggers the increased polymerization of actin filaments, those modulate the Hippo pathway and YAP/TAZ signaling, which in turn promotes the TEAD

transcription factor for a-SMA and other cytoskeletal modifications (48,50,51). Some recent evidence pointed at GPCR activity for additional regulation of that mechanical trigger and found Gs and Gi proteins to have opposite pro-fibrotic and anti-fibrotic action respectively, via their control over the cAMP/PKA axis, which is associated to the cytosolic filament or globular actin state. Gq proteins are assumed to weigh in fibrosis regumation via the activation of ROCK kinases that ultimately stabilize actin filaments (52). Third, in the resting fibroblast state, the fibronectin is usually expressed without its ED-A domain (ED-A FN). When in protomyofibroblast form, this ED-A FN is expressed and interacts with latent TGF-b binding protein-1 (LTBP-1) which in turns stores TGF-B1 in the immediate proximity of the the proto-myofibroblast and increases its availability (53). Once fully differentiated, the new myofibroblast exhibits an a-SMA-rich cytoskeleton with multiple fibronexus-adhesion complexes as anchorage points, strongly expressed ED-A-FN and enhanced ECM secretion abilities as well as secretion of MMPs inibitors TIMPs.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development





Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development



GENERAL KNOWLEDGE The extracellular matrix (ECM)

DESCRIPTION AND COMPONENTS

The extracellular matrix (ECM) is a complex tri-dimensional and non-cellular network, made of a spectrum of proteins and organic molecules organized in a stable structure that confers parts of their mechanical properties to tissues and organs. It is a dynamic construction that is constantly elaborated and remodeled in regard to the critical role it plays in a number physiological mechanism that include but are not restricted to cell adhesion, mobility, proliferation, and differentiation (54). The ensemble of ECM components are called "matrisome" and include over 300 distinct molecules.

Structural proteins

Structural proteins are the ECM components that give the matrix its structural properties and support its architecture. Fibroblasts have a large portfolio of structural proteins they can express in an environment-dependent regulated way, which allows the mobilization of proteins with appropriate properties in different tissues and organs. The most abundant of those proteins are the collagens and elastins, which respectively confer rigidity and strength and stretchiness and flexibility. The ratios of those changes accordingly across organs. Some studies found structural proteins of the ECM may positively regulate fibrotic mechanism as they give more stiffness to the ECM, which is a mechanical trigger of the myofibroblast phenotype (see pages 15-18) (55).

 Collagens are trimeric multidomain molecules that confer stiffness and strength to tissues and the ECM and are the most abundant proteins in mammals, accounting for about 30% of the total protein mass. Collagen II was first discovered in 1962 (56) and the collagen family now includes some 28 variations (collagen I, II, III, IV, etc.) that have various properties and are expressed in different tissues across the body. Of those 28, collagen I is the most abundant and account for up to 90% of all collagens (57). They are synthetized as individual alpha chains that assemble in intracellular trimeric pro-collagen. Pro-collagens are elongated proteins that contain at least one triple helical domain with loosely spinned ends called pro-peptides (see page 22). Once secreted, pro-collagens are cleaved into mature collagens by extracellular enzymes that remove the pro-peptides. Depending on their type and tissues, collagens assemble in four supramolecular structures that are used to divide them in subfamilies (see page 22). These structures are fibrils (II, XI, IX, III,I, V), beaded filaments (VI), anchoring fibrils (VII) and networks (IV). Collagens are not only constituents of the ECM, they also contribute to cell-matrix adhesion by forming direct interaction with some cell receptors. The most significant collagen receptors are transmembrane integrins. Others include dimeric discoidin receptors which negatively regulate collagen fibrillogenesis (58), and some glycoproteins. Collagens are some of the most robust components of the ECM and substrates of the MMPs (matrix metalloproteinases), a specific set of enzymes that is responsible for their degradation in matrix remodeling (57,59).

Elastins account for up to 90% of all ECM elastic fibers and confer tissues their elasticity and stretchiness. These proteins are essential for tissue resistance to mechanical tension (60) and are especially involved in the expansion properties of tissues like blood vessel, lungs and skin (46(61). Elastin is a highly insoluble protein and is therefore synthetized as soluble tropoelastin, which can be handled by cellular transportation means. Once secreted at the membrane, tropoelastin is converted into elastin fibers with no apparent cleavage but hydroxylation of proline residues may be at play (61,62). Elastin fibers are assembled from multiple elastin strings connected by covalent bonds (see figure on page 22).

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development



GENERAL KNOWLEDGE The extracellular matrix (ECM)

Adhesive proteins

Adhesive proteins bridge the gap between cells and the ECM and contribute to connect both. The main family of these proteins are fibronectins, which are dimers of almost identical units connected with two disulfide bonds near their C-terminal extremities. Fibronectins have a structure made of repeated FN domains of three types and may incorporate alternatively spliced domains (12,63). The repeated and alternative domains respectfully include RGD domains that interact with the transmembrane protein integrin for adhesion; and the ED-A-FN domain, which is expressed under the influence of stress and inflammation, and interacts with LTBP-1 (latent TGF- β 1 binding protein 1) to binds TGF- β 1 in close proximity of the cells and promotes its signaling that way (53). In relation to its TGF- β 1 storage abilities, fibronectin may be involved in regulating the availability of TGF- β 1 in fibrotic context (64). Another family of adhesive proteins are the laminins, which also interacts with integrins to anchors cells to basal laminas (deep skin layer type of ECM incorporating collagen IV).

Ground substance

The ground substance of the ECM refers to an ensemble of hydrated gels constituted of proteoglycans, that fill the space surrounding structural protein fibers. It is a very permeable medium that acts as an avenue for biomolecules like nutrients and mediator. Its cell-free and nutrient-rich nature makes it a medium in which cells can move freely, whether for migration purposes in the cases of fibroblasts and immune cells, or for proliferation purposes in the context of wound healing, angiogenesis or invading tumors (12). Proteoglycans are structured around a core protein that carries multiple glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) branching out. The GAGs are of four types: hyaluronan, chondroitin sulfate and dermatan sulfate, heparan sulfate and heparin, keratan sulfate. They all exist in the ECM attached to a core protein except for hyaluronan that may exist on its own. Proteoglycans are highly hydrated and hold significant amounts of water in a sponge-like way, making the ECM a water-rich medium (90% of the ECM is water held by proteoglycans) and providing additional compression resistance (65).



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development





Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development





Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development



GENERAL KNOWLEDGE The extracellular matrix (ECM)

Homeostatic regulation of the ECM

The homeostatic regulation of the ECM is the collection of mechanisms by which the elaboration, degradation and subsequent reabsorption of the ECM is performed in a balanced way that allows for the healthy maintenance and remodeling of the matrix when prompted to by cellular events (differentiation, migration, apoptosis, etc.). The current understanding is that fibroblasts/ myofibroblasts are solely responsible for both sides of that balance, being the ones to elaborate and degrade the ECM (12).

On the elaboration side, the secreted structural proteins need to be assembled into fibers. For collagens and elastins, this assembly step is performed by LOX enzymes (Lysyl oxidase), which catalyze lysine-derived cross-links between collagens or elastins (see page 22), resulting in the supramolecular structures that can support the ECM (66,67). The regulation of LOX is not fully described but it is understood to be upregulated as a result of TGF- β 1 signaling, both canonical (SMAD2/3) and non-canonical (p13 MAP kinase pathway). Inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and TNF- α were also found to promote its expression (68).

On the degradation side, ECM components and especially structural proteins are robust and may only be degraded by specific enzymes. These are split in the three main families of MMPs (Matrix Metalloproteinases), ADAMs (A Disintegrin And Metalloproteinases) and ADAMTS (ADAMs with Thrombospondin motifs), plus a few specialized proteases such as elastase (54,69,70). While the ADAMs and ADAMTs are essentially "shedding" proteases that mostly deal with cell-matrix adhesion structures and proteins, the MMPs are potent proteases involved in the deep deconstruction of the ECM.

There are about 28 MMPs that are split in six subtypes depending of their organization, location and substrates (see page 24); the MT-MMPs are notably membrane bound (Membrane Type-MMPs) (71). The regulation of MMPs is complex and multifactorial, even though it is not fully understood, all pathways involved seem to converge toward JNK and its resulting activation of transcription factors c-Jun and c-Fos. The main regulation axis seems to be TGF-β1 non-canonical signaling via the ERK and JNK/p38 MAP kinase pathways but other triggers such as various growth factors and cytoskeleton-related mechanical tension may be involved too, particularly in the expression MMP2 and MMP9 (72). TGF- β 1 canonical signaling may be at play as some SMAD proteins are known to participate in the upregulation of MMP9 through an undescribed mechanism. Cytokines are also involved in MMPs regulation. Pro-inflammatory IL-1ß in particular promotes them via the NF-kB pathway or via p38 MAP kinase, which on top of promoting NF-kB directly, also mediates transcription factors c-Jun and c-Fos activation (73). MMPs are secreted or expressed at the membrane as precursors and their activity is regulated by the TIMPs (tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases) and by themselves, as they activate each other in a complex regulatory network (see figure on page 24).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

(e)

GENERAL KNOWLEDGE The extracellular matrix (ECM)

In relation to their ECM degradation role, MMPs are credited with a responsibility for releasing the growth factors that are stored within. These include TGF- β 1, VEGF, PDGF and FGFs (fibroblast growth factors). In the case of TGF- β 1; MMP2, 9,13 and 14 are known to directly release it from its ECM-associated sequestration complex with latent TGF-b binding proteins (74). Along with ADAMs and ADAMTs, the MMP family proteases also play a role in altering cell-matrix adhesion by shaving transmembrane proteoglycans of the syndecan family off of cells (74). Finally, along their contribution to ECM management, MMPs fulfil roles in the range of inflammatory response. Pro-inflammatory TNF- α and TLR4 signaling have been identified as promoters of MMPs, which in turn become promoters of immune T-cells and apoptosis via the caspase pathway.



Click to Enlarge

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

ſe∖

Subgroup	MMP	Substrate
1. Collagenases	MMP-1 MMP-8 MMP-13	Col I, II, III, VII, VIII, X, gelatin Col I, II, III, VII, VIII, X, aggrecan, gelatin Col I, II, III, IV, IX, X, XIV, gelatin
2. Gelatinases	MMP-2 MMP-9	Gelatin, Col I, II, III, IV, VII, X Gelatin, Col IV, V
3. Stromelysins	MMP-3 MMP-10 MMP-11	Col II, IV, IX, X, XI, gelatin Col IV, laminin, fibronectin, elastin Col IV, fibronectin, laminin, aggrecan
4. Matrilysins	MMP-7 MMP-26	Fibronectin, Iaminin, Col IV, gelatin Fibrinogen, fibronectin, gelatin
5. MT-MMP	MMP-14 MMP-15 MMP-16 MMP-17 MMP-24 MMP-25	Gelatin, fibronectin, laminin Gelatin, fibronectin, laminin Gelatin, fibronectin, laminin Fibrinogen, fibrin Gelatin, fibronectin, laminin Gelatin
6. Others	MMP-12 MMP-19 MMP-20 MMP-21 MMP-23 MMP-27 MMP-28	Elastin, fibronectin, Col IV Aggrecan, elastin, fibrillin, Col IV, gelatir Aggrecan Aggrecan Gelatin, casein, fibronectin Unknown Unknown

MMPs co-activation network





TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

 \times

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

Bibliography

revvity

WOUND-HEALING, TISSUES REPAIR AND FIBROSIS Overview

Fibrosis as a pathology is defined as an abnormal and excessive deposition of ECM (extracellular matrix) in tissues to the point where connective tissues replace parts of organs' functional tissues, which, among other things, can result in organ disfunction and makes fibrosis a main contributor to wideranging organ failures: systemic sclerosis (SSc), idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF), liver cirrhosis, kidney fibrosis, cardiac fibrosis observed in cardiac hypertrophy, etc. Fibrosis as a process, however, is not a systematically pathological event and is an important part of wound-healing and tissue repair in response to injuries (open wounds, infection, inflammation, etc.).

Following an initial inflammation stage where cytokines (interleukins, chemokines, TNFs, IFNs) and growth factors are released by damaged and dead cells at the injury site. Innate immunity cells are drawn to the injury and activated by coagulation factors in open wounds and/or by the inflammatory cytokines secreted by the local tissue cells (IFNs, TNF- α , IL-6, IL-1 β). This is the migration/destructive stage. Innate immunity cells come in two waves: the first is the local macrophages residing in the injured tissues. the second is drawn to the injury by gradients of chemokines (notably CCL2) (75) and involves granulocytes (mostly neutrophils), dendritic cells and monocytes from the blood, the latter of which differentiate into more macrophages on site. All those cells have a dual role. On the one hand they remove the source of the injury (infection, necrotic cell fragments, foreign bodies) and clean the wound via phagocytosis. They also digest the remnants of broken cells, ECM, and other biological remains that could promote inflammation in the tissues.

On the other hand, they aim to restore the tissues to their homeostasis state. The macrophages are key in that process due to the spectrum of phenotypes they can express, which range from potent pro-inflammatory and pathogenremoving cells to growth-factor-secreting and wound-healing promoting agents (See pages 29-30). Tissue damage and the abundance of cytokines can also directly activate cells of the adaptive immunity and more specifically T-cells which differentiate into helper and regulatory cells (Th and T-reg) with the purpose of stimulating and regulating other immune cells.



Click to Enlarge

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

(e)

WOUND-HEALING, TISSUES REPAIR AND FIBROSIS **Overview**

This mobilization is followed by the granulation/proliferation stage and the recruitment of a new cell type on site. Fibroblasts residing in the ECM surrounding the injured tissues are activated by the TGF- β 1 produced by macrophages and/or released on site by the injury-related ECM breakdown. Following that gradient, they migrate from the ECM to the injury where they differentiate into myofibroblasts (see pages 11-18). Myofibroblasts then secrete new ECM at the site, which effectively ties and provides mechanical strength to the injured tissues. The addition of ECM is critically important for growing new blood vessels and cells as it is a favorable medium for both. Along with macrophages, myofibroblasts also promotes angiogenesis (new blood vessels) via VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor) secretion.

At the end of that whole process, tissues repair with a mix of two things: regeneration, which is the ideal like-for-like replacement of damaged and dead cells. And fibrosis/fibrotic scar tissues, which are the remains of the ECM produced at the injury due to structural proteins of the ECM (collagens) being long-lived robust molecules. Over time, in a balanced and inflammationfree environment, these scar tissues are removed and re-organized while the persistence of myofibroblasts on site promotes the injury reduction in size thanks to their contractility. This remodeling stage is the last of tissue repair. Pathological fibrosis, however, occurs when the long-term remodeling and removal of ECM suffers from a higher production than removal rate. This event is associated with chronic inflammation, which keeps myofibroblasts active for extended periods, thus making them and their ECM protein secretion the main effectors of pathological fibrosis. Causes for pro-fibrotic chronic inflammation are varied and include failure to eliminate the initial inciting factors (infection, foreign bodies), chronic inflammatory metabolism or behavior (sugar/fat metabolism in diabetes and NAFLD/NASH, smoking habits, etc.), or mis-activation and regulation of inflammatory and pro-fibrotic signals by immune cells (macrophages, adaptive immunity regulatory or helper T-cells, etc.) (75,76).



Click to Enlarge

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development





Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

ſevvi



Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

Bibliography

revvity

WOUND-HEALING, TISSUES REPAIR AND FIBROSIS

Macrophages

Macrophages are professional phagocytic immune cells that arise from bonemarrow precursors differentiating into parent monocytes in the peripheral blood before they infiltrate tissues where they become resident macrophages. They are plastic cells that respond to their microenvironment and fulfill homeostasis-maintenance missions that include tissue modeling, recycling, and clearance of dead cells and the removal of pathogens such as necrotic debris, bacteria, toxins, etc. Because of their tissue-resident nature, they are usually the first immune cells to confront an injury and are responsible for initiating the recruitment of other specialized cells.

Macrophages are divided in two main categories that exhibit opposed and complementary phenotypes. Classically activated macrophages (CAM) or M1 are induced by a combination of TLR signaling and IFN-g. They are potent antigen-presenting cells with strong pro-inflammatory cytokine expression (IL-6 and TNF- α), making them key promoters of T-cell expansion and further enhancing their own phenotype. They also exhibit high levels of lysis compounds and regulator nitric oxide that empower them against pathogens. They are the pathogen-clearing pro-inflammatory population of macrophages.

Alternatively activated macrophages (AAM) or M2 are induced by IL-4 or IL-13, and are especially involved in anti-parasite and anti-fungus responses. The fatty acid receptor CD36 has also been identified as a promoter of this phenotype over M1. They express high levels of arginase (enzyme required for DNA synthesis), TGF- β 1, and the immunosuppressive cytokine IL-10. The M2 designation encompasses a third subtype worth mentioning: regulatory

macrophages, induced by IL-10 and expressing higher levels of that cytokine than conventional M2 (77,78). It is important to note that due to their highly plastic nature, macrophage categories of phenotypes are not homogeneous and clearly defined, but rather exist in a spectrum of populations which are not restricted to the characteristics of their most prominent phenotype. Additionally, these main categories are divided into multiple subsets of tissuespecific macrophages whose phenotypes are dependent on the tissues they reside in (microglia in central nervous system, Kupffer cells in liver, osteoclasts in bones, alveolar macrophages in lung, etc.)(77,79).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

(e)

WOUND-HEALING, TISSUES REPAIR AND FIBROSIS

In relation to fibrosis, macrophages have controversial roles which may result from the spectrum of phenotypes they express, and that puts them on either sides of pro- and anti-fibrotic actors. They are sources of strong chemoattractants like CCL2, which are essential for recruiting granulocytes and monocytes from the blood and fibroblasts from the ECM (75,80). This, at terms, promotes the presence of inflammatory cells on site and the fibrotic activity of myofibroblasts. There does not seem to be a consensus on M2 macrophages in particular. They are a key source of TGF-B1 in inflamed tissues, which indicates pro-fibrotic outcomes (81). They also secrete other growth factors that make them fundamental drivers of fibroblasts differentiation and contributor to the wound-healing and tissue repair process (16,17). However, they express IL-10 and the subtype of IL-10-induced M2 macrophage is a major source of that anti-inflammatory cytokine. Some studies have concluded on the antifibrotic nature of that phenotype due to it being a source of said IL-10 and arginase, which also has anti-fibrotic properties (82,83). Along with the action of arginase, the anti-fibrotic role of this phenotype would be mediate in collaboration with the differentiation of IL-10-dependent regulatory T-cells (T-reg), whose anti-inflammatory properties are anti-fibrotic (84).



Click to Enlarge

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

(e)



Introduction

Х

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development



WOUND-HEALING, TISSUES REPAIR AND FIBROSIS

Other innate responders

Monocytes and differentiated macrophages have key roles in the development of fibrosis but other innate immunity cells have also been identified as relevant actors of the disease and investigated as such.

Neutrophils are short-lived cells (few days) circulating in blood. They are phagocytic cells and clear small pathogens via intracellular lysosomal degradation. They are also capable of attacking all kinds of large pathogens with the proteolytic enzymes, cytotoxins, antimicrobial peptides, and other molecules their granules contain (85). Neutrophils are typically the first immune cells recruited on inflammation sites after resident macrophages activation. In inflammatory contexts their lifetime extends and they accumulate on site, which greatly elevates the local inflammation and promotes the recruitment and stimulation of more immune cells. Neutrophils can perform an unusual type of cellular death in the form of NETosis, which is the release and assembly of DNA in extracellular NETs (Neutrophill Extracellular Traps) that act as pathogen traps (86,87). In relation to fibrosis, neutrophils are understood to have pro-fibrotic effects for several reasons. Their fast recruitment on inflammation site where they degranulate cytotoxic content may sustain the inflammation in time and aggravate it. This cytotoxicity-induced inflammation is thought to promote chronic inflammation in collaboration with Th17 cells that promote neutrophil accumulation on site via IL-17A (75,88). Additionally Recent research suggested the cellular content they release by NETosis could result in profibrotic, pro-inflammatory effects that outlast them in tissues (89). They have been observe to accumulate in the lungs of IPF patients, where they are a reliable marker of poor outcomes (90).

Eosinophils mostly reside in epithelia in normal conditions. Their granule content includes cytotoxic compounds (eosinophil cationic protein (ECP), eosinophil peroxidase (EPX), and major basic protein (MBP)) that enable the extracellular destruction of most kinds of pathogens; and cytokines such as IL-4, IL-8, IL-10, IL-13 and TGF- β 1, which modulate both innate and adaptive immunity. As phagocytes, they also remove pathogens via intracellular digestion (91–94). Relatively to fibrosis, eosinophils are both a source of profibrotic TGF- β 1 and IL-13 as well as a source of cytotoxic pro-inflammatory compounds (95,96). They have been identified as contributors to IPF, liver fibrosis and myofibroblasts activation in skin and the IL-5 upon which depends their differentiation and recruitment is also considered a pro-fibrotic mediator. Studies however suggest they are not drivers of fibrosis of their own but rather exacerbating agents (96–98).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

(e)

WOUND-HEALING, TISSUES REPAIR AND FIBROSIS

Basophils circulate in peripheral blood, have the shortest lifetime among granulocytes (1 to 2 days) and are usually recruited in tissues upon inflammation and allergic disorders. Their granules have no pathogen-killing content but make them strong modulators of inflammation in allergic contexts (anticoagulant heparin, chemoattractant leukotriene (LTs), and platelet activating factors) (94,99). They retain a phagocytic activity which is especially efficient against IgE immune complexes they bind with their FceRI receptors. When active, basophils express high levels of IL-4 and IL-13 (42), which modulate allergic response, dendritic cell activity, and macrophage polarization toward tissue repair (TGF- β I-secreting phenotype). They have been observed to contribute to Th2 differentiation but are not required for that process (94,101). They also have been linked to myelofibrosis (102) and their secretion of IL-4 and IL-13 suggest pro-fibrotic effects.



Click to Enlarge

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

(e)



Introduction

 \times

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development



WOUND-HEALING, TISSUES REPAIR AND FIBROSIS Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis

Helper T-cells are a family of differentiated effector CD4+ T-cells whose activity supports, activates, and promotes the actions of other immune cell types. Their contribution to the development of an adaptive and humoral immune response is critical, as antibody-secreting B-cells and cytotoxic CD8+ T-cells are unable to perform the full extent of their missions without their support. They exist in several subtypes with different phenotypes and roles.

- Th1 helper cells differentiate in presence of IL-12 and promote the activity of phagocytic cell macrophage through a consistent expression of IFN-g. They also play a key role in adaptive cytotoxicity, by providing the IL-2 necessary for the activation of CD8+ T-lymphocytes. In the context of fibrosis, Th1 appear to have anti-fibrotic properties mediated via their secretion of IFN-g, which disrupts TGF-β1 canonical signaling and inhibit collagen production (30). As the Th1 phenotype promoter, IL-12 was found to have antifibrotic properties in *in vivo* models (75,103).
- Th2 helper cells arise from stimulation by IL-4, and enhance pathogen clearing through stimulation of eosinophils, basophils, and mastocytes with IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13. They also contribute to the humoral response by providing IL-2 for B-cell activation and sustain the overall inflammation with the pro-inflammatory IL-6. It is worth noting that they mediate their own differentiation in a positive IL-4 feedback loop. In fibrosis development, Th2 are believed to be drivers of fibrotic disorders where chronic inflammation is sustained by an immune response against persistent immunogens. In this process they would promote the woundhealing TGF-β1-secreting macrophage phenotype M2 via their production of cytokines IL-13 and IL-4 (104,105) and promote fibroblasts growth via IL-13-induced JAK2/STAT6 signaling that promotes PDGF-AA (106) . Consequently, IL-4 is also investigated as a pro-fibrotic mediator due to its role in Th2 differentiation (107).

 Th17 helper cells are induced by IL-6, IL-21, and TGF-b, and are potent pro-inflammatory cells that drive neutrophils and macrophage to infection sites with their secretion of IL- 17A, IL-17F, IL-21, IL-22, and CCL20. Due to their inflammatory functions, defects in their behavior are suspected of contributing to many autoimmune diseases (108). In relation to fibrosis, Th17 are thought to create lasting pro-inflammatory environment via their secretion of IL-17A, which is a pro-inflammatory cytokine promoting longterm neutrophil presence on site, which in turns sustain inflammation via the degranulation of their cytotoxic content and are known to correlate with poor outcomes in IPF patients (75,88,90).

Regulatory T-cells or T-reg are a subtype of effector CD4+ T-cells whose phenotype and role make them down-regulators of the activation and proliferation of other CD4+ or CD8+ effector T-cells. It has been reported that they could also have downregulation behaviors toward B-cells and dendritic cells (109). Their proliferation and function are sustained by IL-2, which they do not express but is however produced by other effector T-cells. This results in a regulating loop that ensures T-reg deactivation and decrease as they downregulate effector T-cells, effectively starving themselves in IL-2 (110).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

(e)

WOUND-HEALING, TISSUES REPAIR AND FIBROSIS Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis

The contribution of T-reg to fibrosis remains unclear and seems to depend on the situation. It is, though, commonly admitted that they are more antithan pro-fibrotic. T-reg have anti-fibrotic effects via their anti-inflammatory properties and effectively promote the de-escalation from an inflammatory state to homeostasis by inhibiting the activity of other activated T-cells and removing them from the circulation. The main suppressive messengers T-regs express and secrete is IL-10 (111). T-regs also strongly promote the immunosuppressive metabolite adenosine (109) by expressing the transmembrane CD39 and CD73, which respectively convert ATP to AMP and AMP to adenosine (112,113). More radically, T-reg directly reduce effector T-cell populations via the cytotoxic granzyme/perforin axis that induces cellular death (114,115). Finally, T-reg consume IL-2 via CD25 which serves as a pump, reducing its availability for effector T-cells, leading them to an anergic state (116). However, T-reg produce significant amounts of profibrotic TGF-B1, and some studies found they could induce fibrosis rather than inhibit it (75,117,118).



Click to Enlarge

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

(e)



Introduction

 \times

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development



WOUND-HEALING, TISSUES REPAIR AND FIBROSIS Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

The regression of ECM deposit in fibrotic tissues (and the resulting reversal of fibrosis) is an event that is always associated with the removal of chronic inflammation. For this reason, curing the pathology or removing the injuring agents that originated the inflammation is the most effective way to reverse fibrosis, as shown in the case of viral-infection-induced liver fibrosis (HBV, HCV), which reverses after the infection is cured (119). Regression or reversal of fibrosis is possible to an extent and documented for different pathologies where immunosuppressive therapies have been key (120–123). However, the complete reversal of advanced fibrosis with restoration of the original tissue architecture remains discussed, with current knowledge suggesting it is not possible.

On top of the removal of chronic inflammation, fibrosis reversal is associated with a number of events, including decrease in TGF- β 1, reversed unbalance between pro-fibrotic and anti-fibrotic signals and declines in myofibroblasts populations (8,119,121). Anti-fibrotic therapies therefore target pro-fibrotic signaling at multiple levels: inhibition of fibroblasts migration, differentiation, proliferation, promotion of myofibroblasts cellular death, inhibition of collagen secretion, promotion of collagen degradation (increase MMPs, decrease TIMPs), etc. (121,123).

Current therapeutic approaches being investigating and deemed credible are numerous. Modulation and suppression of inflammation is one. In that regard, Pro-inflammatory cytokine antagonists (anti- TNF- α , anti- IL-1 β) have had moderate success in experimental mouse/rat models (124,125) and TNF- α antagonist Etanercept showed promising result in IPF progression in humans (126). Inhibition of the pro-inflammatory JAK-STAT pathway is explored (127), as well as inhibitors of chemokines that attract monocytes and fibroblasts (CCL2 and CCL3) (80). Finally, the use of anti-inflammatory IL-10 is also an alternative being investigated with research showing that its absence in mouse models promotes more severe fibrotic outcomes (128,129). Inhibition of fibroblast activation and differentiation is another major area of research in fibrosis; with studies looking to inhibit TGF- β 1 expression, activity or signaling. As ECM protein-secreting myofibroblasts are the main effectors in all types of fibrotic pathologies, any approach that successfully regulate them would have wide-ranging anti-fibrotic applications (76). With fibroblast activity, Th2-produced IL-13 (and IL-4 in a lesser way) is a potential target due to it increasing fibrotic outcomes via TGF- β 1 signaling and being a promoter of the TGF- β 1-secreting macrophage phenotype (104,105). IL-4 is investigated too as a promoter of T-cells differentiation into Th2, which then express IL-13 and are pro-fibrotic (107). The use of IFN-g is also investigated for its anti-fibrotic disruption of TGF- β 1 signaling (28,29), but with weak results in patients (130).

Other approaches include the elimination of collagen sources (myofibroblasts) via pro-apoptosis or anti-survival signaling (inhibitors of ERK), modulation of the expression of MMPs (matrix metalloproteinases) as they are the direct mediators of matrix degradation and fibrosis reversal, and promotion of T-reg recruitment and activity for their anti-inflammatory properties and anti-Th2 effects.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development





Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

le√

KEY FIBROSIS-RELATED PATHOLOGIES NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis

The liver is the most vital organ in the body. It governs whole-body energy homeostasis by performing many essential functions related to nutrient digestion, metabolism and storage, as well as detoxification and immunity. All nutrients along with drugs and other potentially harmful substances from the small intestine, stomach, pancreas, and spleen are absorbed by the liver through the portal vein. As the main detoxifier of the organism, the liver is inherently exposed to most irritant agents the body encounters, which makes it an organ especially susceptible to scarring in long term exposure to toxic environments and practices.

In the early 2000s, changes in alimentation and physical inactivity in developed countries have laid the ground for the collection of disorders designed by nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) (131). NAFLD is a term used to cover a spectrum that ranges from fatty liver to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis to fibrosis, and finally cirrhosis. Lipid accumulation, or steatosis, marks one end of the spectrum and is generally considered benign. Simple accumulation of fat in the liver is sometimes referred to as "Simple Steatosis" and does not include inflammation. Lipid accumulation is considered a hepatic manifestation of obesity and its related metabolic disorders such as diabetes and insulin resistance. The other end of the spectrum is characterized by the development of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), the most prevalent type of primary liver cancer. Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), fibrosis and cirrhosis are intermediary steps between simple steatosis and HCC. In NASH, the build-up of fat in the liver is accompanied by inflammation, which, if left untreated can progress to fibrosis. Over time, fibrotic tissues come to replace a significant portion of the heathy tissues and impair the function of the liver.

In NAFLD-associated fibrosis, the triggering agents and source of inflammation come from the dysregulation of carbohydrate and lipid metabolism induced by lasting unbalances in diet. While β -oxidation is the

usual process by which fatty acids (FAs) are converted into Acetyl-CoA, the continuous lipogenesis (lipid storage) that accompanies over-alimentation with diets rich in lipids and carbohydrates (or obesity and insulin resistance) inhibits β -oxidation. The conversion of lipids is then performed through abnormally increased peroxisomal ω -oxidation, which generate ROS. The cytotoxicity that results from ROS both create local inflammatory stress and cellular death with release of DAMPs (damage-associated molecular patterns), which are picked up by Kuppfer cells' TLRs (liver resident macrophages) and trigger the trickle down process of local inflammation and scarring processes.

However, the escalation of NAFLD to NASH then fibrosis is understood to incorporate other factors along carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. The current model coined 'multiple parallel hits' describes a multitude of events occuring in parallel, including genetic predisposition, insulin resistance, adipose tissue dysfunction, abnormal lipid metabolism, lipotoxicity, altered production of inflammatory mediators, and dysregulation of the gut-liver axis and innate immunity (132–136).

More information on NAFLD/NASH and associated signaling pathways in our dedicated Guide.



Click to Enlarge

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development





Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

ſevvi

KEY FIBROSIS-RELATED PATHOLOGIES Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis

IPF is the most prevalent form of the larger family of interstitial lung diseases (ILDs), which are a group of parenchymal lung diseases of different inflammation and fibrosis levels. IPF is considered an aggressive disease with chronic, progressive, fast-growing fibrosis of the lung tissues, which result in irreversible loss of lung function, respiratory failure and high mortality rates.

While environmental factors have been identified as recurrent promoters of the disease, genetic and epigenetic predisposition at the individual level are the most critical elements for IPF development. The current understanding is that the contribution of external factors and repetition of micro-injury of the alveolar epithelium in such a susceptible genetic context leads to the chronic wound-healing and tissue repair process that results in the abnormal accumulation of scar tissues that characterizes fibrosis. The unclear nature and respective contribution of the genetic background and different environmental, autoimmune or infectious factors that lead to the development of IPF originated the idiopathic denomination of the disease.

At the alveolar scale, the development of IPF is described as starting with a micro-injury of the alveolar epithelium, which is ruptured locally along with the adjacent capillary barrier. Bleeding from the capillary into the wound brings fibrin and coagulation factors from platelets which initiate the inflammatory reaction by activating local alveolar macrophages. Said macrophages also receive inflammatory signals from their TLRs, which pick up the DAMPs (damage-associated molecular patterns) released upon epithelial rupture. This is followed by the unfolding of a usual wound-healing process; with the recruitment of other immune cells, fibrocytes and fibroblasts which proliferate and differentiate under the influence of growth factors (TGF-b1, PDGF, VEGF, FGF), which brings the myofibroblast phenotype to the injury.

IPF is characterized by the accumulation of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts into a fibrotic foci at the micro-injury site, which causes the abnormal local secretion of ECM proteins with resulting loss of alveolar elasticity, distortion of the alveoli architecture and exclusion of alveolar epithelial cells I/II (AEC I/II) which prevent re-epithelialization of the injury. Additionally, the proliferation of myofibroblasts and ongoing inflammation promote angiogenesis which sustain the local swelling and facilitate future micro-injury-related bleeding (137–139).



Click to Enlarge

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development





Introduction

 \times

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

Bibliography

revvity

KEY FIBROSIS-RELATED PATHOLOGIES Fibrosis relation to tumor development

Fibrosis as a mechanism related to the ECM, inflammation and tissue repair is closely associated to tumor development and growth, with evidence for chronic scarring acting a laying ground for cancer being observed as early as 1850 (140). In the eighties, the notion that tumors are treated like wounds that do not heal, and exhibit all the characteristics of tissue repair processes (leucocytes infiltration, neovascularization, fibroblast accumulation) (141,142) introduced fibrosis as a companion process and potential pathology to cancer. In particular, later evidence showed that both tumor progression and development of fibrosis are associated with myofibroblast proliferation and activity (143,144), and that stiffer ECM remodeling is associated with tumors (145).

The definitive pro- or anti-tumorigenic nature of fibrosis is controversial, with evidence in favor of both and it is likely not the same at all stages of tumor development. In early stages of tumor growth, fibrotic behaviors appear to contribute to the containment of cancer cells and the reduction of tumor expansion. This is achieved in similar ways to wound-closing, with myofibroblasts surrounding and crossing the inflamed area with anisotropic collagens, then contracting around it. The application of mechanical force around the tumor results in a tighter stroma that limits tumor growth. However, later events of ECM reorganization shift these anti-tumorigenic effects (146).

While collagen fibers in normal tissues are usually curly and not organized in any particular direction, they come to be altered, thicker and linearized around tumors. The suspected mechanisms at play in these changes are an increase in lysine-derived cross links between collagen catalyzed by LOX enzymes, and some contractility of tumor cells which pull on the collagen fibers and cause them to align perpendicularly to the tumor surface. The thick linearized collagen fibers pointing away from the tumor then act as "highways" along which tumor cells migrate, which promotes tumor expansion and metastasis (147–149). This assumption of contractility and motility on tumor cells part is corroborated by the increased ROCK pathway signaling in cancer, which regulates cytoskeletal composition and architecture to those ends (150). Integrins, as regulators of cytoskeletal properties of cells, are also actors of that process with their expression being tied to transmembrane mechanical tension. As tissue stiffness increases around tumors, integrin expression is promoted which in turn results in contractility and motility via cytoskeletal alterations (151,152). In this model, fibrosis and cancer support each other in an amplification loop, where the tumor acts as the permanent wound providing the inflammatory environment in which myofibroblasts thrive and promote fibrotic phenotypes, which in turn facilitate tumor progression (153).

Additionally to that reorganization, the whole regulation of the ECM is altered in tumor environment with collagen and MMP turnover increasing greatly, which both facilitates the reorganization in a linear architecture and creates spaces for cancer cells to invade (149,154). This increased turnover, is also a source of growth factors which get released from the ECM and promote invading tumor cell growth in this already cell-free and nutrient rich medium (12).



Click to Enlarge

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development



Fibrosis dual model for tumor restriction & expansion



Early tumor development Fibrosis is anti-tumorigenic **Late tumor development** Fibrosis is pro-tumorigenic

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

 \times

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development



- 1. Jun J-I, Lau LF. Resolution of organ fibrosis. J Clin Invest. 128(1):97–107.
- 2. Dick MK, Miao JH, Limaiem F. Histology, Fibroblast. StatPearls. 2020.
- 3. Movat HZ, Fernando NVP. The fine structure of connective tissue: I. The fibroblast. Exp Mol Pathol. 1962 Dec 1;1(6):509-34.
- 4. Rinn JL, Bondre C, Gladstone HB, Brown PO, Chang HY. Anatomic Demarcation by Positional Variation in Fibroblast Gene Expression Programs. PLoS Genet. 2006 Jul ;2(7):e119.
- 5. Chang HY, Chi J-T, Dudoit S, Bondre C, van de Rijn M, Botstein D, et al. Diversity, topographic differentiation, and positional memory in human fibroblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 Oct 1;99(20):12877–82.
- 6. Hagood JS, Prabhakaran P, Kumbla P, Salazar L, MacEwen MW, Barker TH, et al. Loss of Fibroblast Thy-1 Expression Correlates with Lung Fibrogenesis. Am J Pathol. 2005 Aug;167(2):365–79.
- 7. Phan SH. Biology of Fibroblasts and Myofibroblasts. Proc Am Thorac Soc. 2008 Apr 15;5(3):334–7.
- 8. Phan SH. The myofibroblast in pulmonary fibrosis. Chest. 2002 Dec;122(6 Suppl):286S-289S.
- 9. Liu T, Nozaki Y, Phan SH. Regulation of telomerase activity in rat lung fibroblasts. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2002 May;26(5):534–40.
- 10. Sanders YY, Kumbla P, Hagood JS. Enhanced Myofibroblastic Differentiation and Survival in Thy-1(-) Lung Fibroblasts. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2007 Feb;36(2):226–35.
- 11. Feghali CA, Wright TM. Cytokines in acute and chronic inflammation. Front Biosci J Virtual Libr. 1997 Jan 1;2:d12-26.
- 12. Kendall RT, Feghali-Bostwick CA. Fibroblasts in fibrosis: novel roles and mediators. Front Pharmacol. 2014 May 27;5.
- 13. Petrov VV, Fagard RH, Lijnen PJ. Stimulation of collagen production by transforming growth factor-beta1 during differentiation of cardiac fibroblasts to myofibroblasts. Hypertens Dallas Tex 1979. 2002 Feb;39(2):258–63.
- 14. Smith RS, Smith TJ, Blieden TM, Phipps RP. Fibroblasts as sentinel cells. Synthesis of chemokines and regulation of inflammation. Am J Pathol. 1997 Aug;151(2):317–22.
- 15. Flavell SJ, Hou TZ, Lax S, Filer AD, Salmon M, Buckley CD. Fibroblasts as novel therapeutic targets in chronic inflammation. Br J Pharmacol. 2008 Mar;153(Suppl 1):S241–6.
- 16. Newman AC, Nakatsu MN, Chou W, Gershon PD, Hughes CCW. The requirement for fibroblasts in angiogenesis: fibroblast-derived matrix proteins are essential for endothelial cell lumen formation. Mol Biol Cell. 2011 Oct;22(20):3791–800.
- 17. Sewduth R, Santoro MM. "Decoding" Angiogenesis: New Facets Controlling Endothelial Cell Behavior. Front Physiol. 2016;7.
- 18. Meng X, Nikolic-Paterson DJ, Lan HY. TGF-β: the master regulator of fibrosis. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2016 Jun;12(6):325–38.
- 19. Ábrigo J, Campos F, Simon F, Riedel C, Cabrera D, Vilos C, et al. TGF-β requires the activation of canonical and non-canonical signalling pathways to induce skeletal muscle atrophy. Biol Chem. 2018 Feb 23;399(3):253–64.
- 20. Finnson KW, Almadani Y, Philip A. Non-canonical (non-SMAD2/3) TGF-β signaling in fibrosis: Mechanisms and targets. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2020 May;101:115–22.
- 21. Thatcher JD. The TGF-β Signal Transduction Pathway. Sci Signal. 2010 Apr 27;3(119):tr4-tr4.
- 22. Inoue Y, Imamura T. Regulation of TGF-β family signaling by E3 ubiquitin ligases. Cancer Sci. 2008 Nov;99(11):2107–12.
- 23. Yan X, Liu Z, Chen Y. Regulation of TGF-β signaling by Smad7. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin. 2009 Apr 1;41(4):263–72.

| www.revvity.com

44

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- · Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development



- 24. Dooley S, Said HM, Gressner AM, Floege J, En-Nia A, Mertens PR. Y-box Protein-1 Is the Crucial Mediator of Antifibrotic Interferon-γ Effects. J Biol Chem. 2006 Jan 20;281(3):1784–95.
- 25. Verrecchia F, Chu ML, Mauviel A. Identification of novel TGF-beta /Smad gene targets in dermal fibroblasts using a combined cDNA microarray/promoter transactivation approach. J Biol Chem. 2001 May 18;276(20):17058–62.
- 26. Weng H-L, Wang B-E, Jia J-D, Wu W-F, Xian J-Z, Mertens PR, et al. Effect of interferon-gamma on hepatic fibrosis in chronic hepatitis B virus infection: a randomized controlled study. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol Off Clin Pract J Am Gastroenterol Assoc. 2005 Aug;3(8):819–28.
- 27. Vu TN, Chen X, Foda HD, Smaldone GC, Hasaneen NA. Interferon-γ enhances the antifibrotic effects of pirfenidone by attenuating IPF lung fibroblast activation and differentiation. Respir Res. 2019 Sep 11;20(1):206.
- 28. Amento EP, Bhan AK, McCullagh KG, Krane SM. Influences of gamma interferon on synovial fibroblast-like cells. Ia induction and inhibition of collagen synthesis. J Clin Invest. 1985 Aug;76(2):837–48.
- 29. Praillet C, Lortat-Jacob H, Grimaud JA. Interferon gamma differentially affects the synthesis of chondroitin/dermatan sulphate and heparan sulphate by human skin fibroblasts. Biochem J. 1996 Sep 15;318(Pt 3):863–70.
- 30. Ulloa L, Doody J, Massagué J. Inhibition of transforming growth factor-beta/SMAD signalling by the interferon-gamma/STAT pathway. Nature. 1999 Feb 25;397(6721):710-3.
- 31. Pardali E, Goumans M-J, ten Dijke P. Signaling by members of the TGF-β family in vascular morphogenesis and disease. Trends Cell Biol. 2010 Sep;20(9):556–67.
- 32. Finnson KW, Parker WL, Dijke P ten, Thorikay M, Philip A. ALK1 Opposes ALK5/Smad3 Signaling and Expression of Extracellular Matrix Components in Human Chondrocytes. J Bone Miner Res. 2008;23(6):896–906.
- Hata A, Lagna G, Massagué J, Hemmati-Brivanlou A. Smad6 inhibits BMP/Smad1 signaling by specifically competing with the Smad4 tumor suppressor. Genes Dev 1998 Jan 15;12(2):186–97.
- 34. Zhang YE. Non-Smad Signaling Pathways of the TGF-β Family. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2017 Feb;9(2):a022129.
- 35. JI H, TANG H, LIN H, MAO J, GAO L, LIU J, et al. Rho/Rock cross-talks with transforming growth factor-β/Smad pathway participates in lung fibroblast-myofibroblast differentiation. Biomed Rep. 2014 Nov;2(6):787–92.
- 36. Chakraborty D, Šumová B, Mallano T, Chen C-W, Distler A, Bergmann C, et al. Activation of STAT3 integrates common profibrotic pathways to promote fibroblast activation and tissue fibrosis. Nat Commun. 2017 Oct 24;8(1):1130.
- 37. Hinz B, Phan SH, Thannickal VJ, Galli A, Bochaton-Piallat M-L, Gabbiani G. The Myofibroblast: One function, multiple origins. Am J Pathol. 2007 Jun;170(6):1807–16.
- 38. Gallucci RM, Lee EG, Tomasek JJ. IL-6 modulates alpha-smooth muscle actin expression in dermal fibroblasts from IL-6-deficient mice. J Invest Dermatol. 2006 Mar;126(3):561–8.
- 39. Desmoulière A, Geinoz A, Gabbiani F, Gabbiani G. Transforming growth factor-beta 1 induces alpha-smooth muscle actin expression in granulation tissue myofibroblasts and in quiescent and growing cultured fibroblasts. J Cell Biol. 1993 Jul;122(1):103–11.
- 40. Rønnov-Jessen L, Petersen OW. Induction of alpha-smooth muscle actin by transforming growth factor-beta 1 in quiescent human breast gland fibroblasts. Implications for myofibroblast generation in breast neoplasia. Lab Investig J Tech Methods Pathol. 1993 Jun;68(6):696–707.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

- 41. Hashimoto S, Gon Y, Takeshita I, Matsumoto K, Maruoka S, Horie T. Transforming Growth Factor- β1 Induces Phenotypic Modulation of Human Lung Fibroblasts to Myofibroblast Through a c-Jun-NH2-Terminal Kinase-Dependent Pathway. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001 Jan 1;163(1):152–7.
- 42. Hinz B, Gabbiani G, Chaponnier C. The NH2-terminal peptide of α–smooth muscle actin inhibits force generation by the myofibroblast *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J Cell Biol. 2002 May 13;157(4):657–63.
- 43. Arora PD, Narani N, McCulloch CA. The compliance of collagen gels regulates transforming growth factor-beta induction of alpha-smooth muscle actin in fibroblasts. Am J Pathol. 1999 Mar;154(3):871–82.
- 44. Hinz B, Gabbiani G. Cell-matrix and cell-cell contacts of myofibroblasts: role in connective tissue remodeling. Thromb Haemost. 2003 Dec;90(6):993–1002.
- 45. Tomasek JJ, Gabbiani G, Hinz B, Chaponnier C, Brown RA. Myofibroblasts and mechano-regulation of connective tissue remodelling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2002 May;3(5):349–63.
- 46. Werner S, Grose R. Regulation of Wound Healing by Growth Factors and Cytokines. Physiol Rev. 2003 Jul 1;83(3):835-70.
- 47. Hinz B. Formation and Function of the Myofibroblast during Tissue Repair. J Invest Dermatol. 2007 Mar 1;127(3):526-37.
- Piersma B, Bank RA, Boersema M. Signaling in Fibrosis: TGF-β, WNT, and YAP/TAZ Converge. Front Med [Internet]. 2015 Sep 3 [cited 2020 Aug 19];2. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4558529/
- 49. Singer II. The fibronexus: a transmembrane association of fibronectin-containing fibers and bundles of 5 nm microfilaments in hamster and human fibroblasts. Cell. 1979 Mar;16(3):675–85.
- 50. Piersma B, de Rond S, Werker PMN, Boo S, Hinz B, van Beuge MM, et al. YAP1 Is a Driver of Myofibroblast Differentiation in Normal and Diseased Fibroblasts. Am J Pathol. 2015 Dec 1;185(12):3326–37.
- 51. Noguchi S, Saito A, Nagase T. YAP/TAZ Signaling as a Molecular Link between Fibrosis and Cancer. Int J Mol Sci [Internet]. 2018 Nov 20 [cited 2020 Aug 19];19(11). Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6274979/
- 52. Haak AJ, Ducharme MT, Diaz Espinosa AM, Tschumperlin DJ. Targeting GPCR Signaling for Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis Therapies. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2020 Mar 1;41(3):172–82.
- 53. Klingberg F, Chau G, Walraven M, Boo S, Koehler A, Chow ML, et al. The fibronectin ED-A domain enhances recruitment of latent TGF-β-binding protein-1 to the fibroblast matrix. J Cell Sci [Internet]. 2018 Mar 1 [cited 2020 Aug 16];131(5). Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5897715/
- 54. Yue B. Biology of the Extracellular Matrix: An Overview. J Glaucoma. 2014;S20-3.
- 55. Blaauboer ME, Boeijen FR, Emson CL, Turner SM, Zandieh-Doulabi B, Hanemaaijer R, et al. Extracellular matrix proteins: a positive feedback loop in lung fibrosis? Matrix Biol J Int Soc Matrix Biol. 2014 Feb;34:170–8.
- 56. Miller EJ, Matukas VJ. Chick cartilage collagen: a new type of alpha 1 chain not present in bone or skin of the species. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1969 Dec;64(4):1264–8.
- 57. Ricard-Blum S. The Collagen Family. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2011 Jan;3(1):a004978.
- 58. Mihai C, Iscru DF, Druhan LJ, Elton TS, Agarwal G. Discoidin domain receptor 2 inhibits fibrillogenesis of collagen type 1. J Mol Biol. 2006 Sep 1;361(5):864–76.
- 59. Gordon MK, Hahn RA. Collagens. Cell Tissue Res. 2010 Jan;339(1):247-57.
- 60. Baldock C, Oberhauser AF, Ma L, Lammie D, Siegler V, Mithieux SM, et al. Shape of tropoelastin, the highly extensible protein that controls human tissue elasticity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011 Mar 15;108(11):4322–7.

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- · Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development



- 61. Vrhovski B, Weiss AS. Biochemistry of tropoelastin. Eur J Biochem. 1998 Nov 15;258(1):1–18.
- 62. Bressan GM, Prockop DJ. Synthesis of elastin in aortas from chick embryos. Conversion of newly secreted elastin to cross-linked elastin without apparent proteolysis of the molecule. Biochemistry. 1977 Apr 5;16(7):1406–12.
- 63. Pankov R, Yamada KM. Fibronectin at a glance. J Cell Sci. 2002 Oct 15;115(20):3861-3.
- 64. Kawelke N, Vasel M, Sens C, Au A von, Dooley S, Nakchbandi IA. Fibronectin protects from excessive liver fibrosis by modulating the availability of and responsiveness of stellate cells to active TGF-β. PloS One. 2011;6(11):e28181.
- 65. Paxton S, Peckham M, Knibbs A. The Leeds Histology Guide. 2003 [cited 2020 Aug 19]; Available from: https://www.histology.leeds.ac.uk/tissue_types/connective/connective_groundS.php
- 66. Csiszar K. Lysyl oxidases: a novel multifunctional amine oxidase family. Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol. 2001;70:1–32.
- 67. Kagan HM, Li W. Lysyl oxidase: properties, specificity, and biological roles inside and outside of the cell. J Cell Biochem. 2003 Mar 1;88(4):660-72.
- 68. Wang T-H, Hsia S-M, Shieh T-M. Lysyl Oxidase and the Tumor Microenvironment. Int J Mol Sci. 2016 Dec 29;18(1).
- 69. Bonnans C, Chou J, Werb Z. Remodelling the extracellular matrix in development and disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2014 Dec;15(12):786–801.
- 70. Lu P, Takai K, Weaver VM, Werb Z. Extracellular Matrix Degradation and Remodeling in Development and Disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol [Internet]. 2011 Dec [cited 2020 Aug 16];3(12):a005058.
- 71. Snoek-van Beurden PAM, Von den Hoff JW. Zymographic techniques for the analysis of matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors. BioTechniques. 2005 Jan;38(1):73–83.
- 72. Haas TL. Endothelial cell regulation of matrix metalloproteinases. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 2005 Jan 1;83(1):1–7.
- 73. Gordon GM, Ledee DR, Feuer W, Fini ME. Cytokines and Signaling Pathways Regulating Matrix Metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) Expression in Corneal Epithelial Cells. J Cell Physiol. 2009 Nov;221(2):402–11.
- 74. Mott JD, Werb Z. Regulation of matrix biology by matrix metalloproteinases. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2004 Oct;16(5):558-64.
- 75. Wynn TA, Ramalingam TR. Mechanisms of fibrosis: therapeutic translation for fibrotic disease. Nat Med. 2012 Jul 6;18(7):1028-40.
- 76. Wynn T. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of fibrosis. J Pathol. 2008 Jan;214(2):199-210.
- 77. Mosser DM, Edwards JP. Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008 Dec;8(12):958-69.
- 78. Verschoor CP, Puchta A, Bowdish DME. The macrophage. Methods Mol Biol Clifton NJ. 2012;844:139-56.
- 79. Galli SJ, Borregaard N, Wynn TA. Phenotypic and functional plasticity of cells of innate immunity: macrophages, mast cells and neutrophils. Nat Immunol. 2011 Oct 19;12(11):1035–44.
- 80. Ekert JE, Murray LA, Das AM, Sheng H, Giles-Komar J, Rycyzyn MA. Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2 mediates direct and indirect fibrotic responses in human and murine cultured fibrocytes. Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair. 2011;4:23.
- 81. Zhu L, Fu X, Chen X, Han X, Dong P. M2 macrophages induce EMT through the TGF-β/Smad2 signaling pathway. Cell Biol Int. 2017 Sep;41(9):960–8.
- Cao Q, Wang Y, Zheng D, Sun Y, Wang Y, Lee VWS, et al. IL-10/TGF-β-Modified Macrophages Induce Regulatory T Cells and Protect against Adriamycin Nephrosis. J Am Soc Nephrol JASN. 2010 Jun;21(6):933-42.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development



- 83. Pesce JT, Ramalingam TR, Mentink-Kane MM, Wilson MS, El Kasmi KC, Smith AM, et al. Arginase-1–Expressing Macrophages Suppress Th2 Cytokine–Driven Inflammation and Fibrosis. PLoS Pathog. 2009 Apr 10;5(4):e1000371.
- 84. Murray PJ, Wynn TA. Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011 Oct 14;11(11):723-37.
- 85. Borregaard N, Sørensen OE, Theilgaard-Mönch K. Neutrophil granules: a library of innate immunity proteins. Trends Immunol. 2007 Aug;28(8):340-5.
- 86. Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, Weiss DS, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. Science. 2004 Mar 5;303(5663):1532-5.
- 87. Papayannopoulos V. Neutrophil extracellular traps in immunity and disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2018;18(2):134-47.
- 88. Laan M, Cui ZH, Hoshino H, Lötvall J, Sjöstrand M, Gruenert DC, et al. Neutrophil recruitment by human IL-17 via C-X-C chemokine release in the airways. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950. 1999 Feb 15;162(4):2347–52.
- 89. Frangou E, Vassilopoulos D, Boletis J, Boumpas DT. An emerging role of neutrophils and NETosis in chronic inflammation and fibrosis in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and ANCA-associated vasculitides (AAV): Implications for the pathogenesis and treatment. Autoimmun Rev. 2019 Aug;18(8):751–60.
- 90. Kinder BW, Brown KK, Schwarz MI, Ix JH, Kervitsky A, King TE. Baseline BAL neutrophilia predicts early mortality in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Chest. 2008 Jan;133(1):226–32.
- 91. Khoury P, Grayson PC, Klion AD. Eosinophils in vasculitis: characteristics and roles in pathogenesis. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2014 Aug;10(8):474–83.
- 92. Weller PF, Rand TH, Barrett T, Elovic A, Wong DT, Finberg RW. Accessory cell function of human eosinophils. HLA-DR-dependent, MHC-restricted antigen-presentation and IL-1 alpha expression. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950. 1993 Mar 15;150(6):2554–62.
- 93. Rothenberg M.E, Hogan S.P. The eosinophil. Annu Rev Immunolgy. 2006;24:147-74.
- 94. Miltenyi Biotec. Granulocytes (human) [Internet]. miltenyibiotec.com. 2020 [cited 2020 Aug 23]. Available from: https://www.miltenyibiotec.com/FR-en/resources/macs-handbook/human-cells-and-organs/human-cell-types/granulocytes-human.html
- 95. Fujimoto K, Kubo K, Yamaguchi S, Honda T, Matsuzawa Y. Eosinophil Activation in Patients With Pulmonary Fibrosis. Chest. 1995 Jul 1;108(1):48-54.
- 96. Reiman RM, Thompson RW, Feng CG, Hari D, Knight R, Cheever AW, et al. Interleukin-5 (IL-5) augments the progression of liver fibrosis by regulating IL-13 activity. Infect Immun. 2006 Mar;74(3):1471–9.
- 97. Levi-Schaffer F, Garbuzenko E, Rubin A, Reich R, Pickholz D, Gillery P, et al. Human eosinophils regulate human lung- and skin-derived fibroblast properties *in vitro*: A role for transforming growth factor β (TGF-β). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999 Aug 17;96(17):9660–5.
- 98. Aceves SS. Remodeling and fibrosis in chronic eosinophil inflammation. Dig Dis Basel Switz. 2014;32(0):15-21.
- 99. Geering B, Stoeckle C, Conus S, Simon H-U. Living and dying for inflammation: neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils. Trends Immunol. 2013 Aug;34(8):398–409.
- 100. Karasuyama H, Obata K, Wada T, Tsujimura Y, Mukai K. Newly appreciated roles for basophils in allergy and protective immunity. Allergy. 2011 Sep;66(9):1133-41.
- 101. Min B, Prout M, Hu-Li J, Zhu J, Jankovic D, Morgan ES, et al. Basophils Produce IL-4 and Accumulate in Tissues after Infection with a Th2-inducing Parasite. J Exp Med. 2004 Aug 16;200(4):507–17.
- 102. Lucijanic M, Livun A, Stoos-Veic T, Pejsa V, Jaksic O, Cicic D, et al. High absolute basophil count is a powerful independent predictor of inferior overall survival in patients with primary myelofibrosis. Hematol Amst Neth. 2018 May;23(4):201–7.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- · Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development



- 103. Keane MP, Belperio JA, Burdick MD, Strieter RM. IL-12 attenuates bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2001 Jul;281(1):L92-97.
- 104. Chiaramonte MG, Donaldson DD, Cheever AW, Wynn TA. An IL-13 inhibitor blocks the development of hepatic fibrosis during a T-helper type 2–dominated inflammatory response. J Clin Invest. 1999 Sep 15;104(6):777–85.
- 105. Lee CG, Homer RJ, Zhu Z, Lanone S, Wang X, Koteliansky V, et al. Interleukin-13 Induces Tissue Fibrosis by Selectively Stimulating and Activating Transforming Growth Factor β1. J Exp Med. 2001 Sep 17;194(6):809–22.
- 106. Ingram JL, Rice AB, Geisenhoffer K, Madtes DK, Bonner JC. IL-13 and IL-1beta promote lung fibroblast growth through coordinated up-regulation of PDGF-AA and PDGF-Ralpha. FASEB J Off Publ Fed Am Soc Exp Biol. 2004 Jul;18(10):1132–4.
- 107. Weng S-Y, Wang X, Vijayan S, Tang Y, Kim YO, Padberg K, et al. IL-4 Receptor Alpha Signaling through Macrophages Differentially Regulates Liver Fibrosis Progression and Reversal. EBioMedicine. 2018 Feb 17;29:92–103.
- 108. Knochelmann HM, Dwyer CJ, Bailey SR, Amaya SM, Elston DM, Mazza-McCrann JM, et al. When worlds collide: Th17 and T-reg cells in cancer and autoimmunity. Cell Mol Immunol. 2018 May;15(5):458–69.
- 109. Schmetterer KG, Neunkirchner A, Pickl WF. Naturally occurring regulatory T cells: markers, mechanisms, and manipulation. FASEB J. 2012;26(6):2253-76.
- 110. Chinen T, Kannan AK, Levine AG, Fan X, Klein U, Zheng Y, et al. An essential role for the IL-2 receptor in T-reg cell function. Nat Immunol. 2016 Nov;17(11):1322-33.
- 111. Ito T, Hanabuchi S, Wang Y-H, Park WR, Arima K, Bover L, et al. Two functional subsets of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in human thymus and periphery. Immunity. 2008 Jun;28(6):870–80.
- 112. Yegutkin GG. Nucleotide- and nucleoside-converting ectoenzymes: Important modulators of purinergic signalling cascade. Biochim Biophys Acta BBA Mol Cell Res. 2008 May 1;1783(5):673–94.
- 113. Lu L, Barbi J, Pan F. The regulation of immune tolerance by FOXP3. Nat Rev Immunol. 2017 Nov;17(11):703-17.
- 114. Grossman WJ, Verbsky JW, Barchet W, Colonna M, Atkinson JP, Ley TJ. Human T regulatory cells can use the perforin pathway to cause autologous target cell death. Immunity. 2004 Oct;21(4):589–601.
- 115. Yamaguchi T, Wing JB, Sakaguchi S. Two modes of immune suppression by Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells under inflammatory or non-inflammatory conditions. Semin Immunol. 2011 Dec;23(6):424–30.
- 116. Pandiyan P, Zheng L, Ishihara S, Reed J, Lenardo MJ. CD4 + CD25 + Foxp3 + regulatory T cells induce cytokine deprivation-mediated apoptosis of effector CD4 + T cells. Nat Immunol. 2007 Dec;8(12):1353–62.
- 117. Estes JD, Wietgrefe S, Schacker T, Southern P, Beilman G, Reilly C, et al. Simian immunodeficiency virus-induced lymphatic tissue fibrosis is mediated by transforming growth factor beta 1-positive regulatory T cells and begins in early infection. J Infect Dis. 2007 Feb 15;195(4):551–61.
- 118. Liu F, Liu J, Weng D, Chen Y, Song L, He Q, et al. CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells depletion may attenuate the development of silica-induced lung fibrosis in mice. PloS One. 2010 Nov 3;5(11):e15404.
- 119. Bataller R, Brenner DA. Liver fibrosis. J Clin Invest. 2005 Feb 1;115(2):209-18.
- 120. Dufour JF, DeLellis R, Kaplan MM. Regression of hepatic fibrosis in hepatitis C with long-term interferon treatment. Dig Dis Sci. 1998 Dec;43(12):2573–6.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- · Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

- 121. Fallowfield JA, Kendall TJ, Iredale JP. Reversal of fibrosis: no longer a pipe dream? Clin Liver Dis. 2006 Aug;10(3):481-97, viii.
- 122. Hammel P, Couvelard A, O'Toole D, Ratouis A, Sauvanet A, Fléjou JF, et al. Regression of liver fibrosis after biliary drainage in patients with chronic pancreatitis and stenosis of the common bile duct. N Engl J Med. 2001 Feb 8;344(6):418–23.
- 123. Ismail MH, Pinzani M. Reversal of Liver Fibrosis. Saudi J Gastroenterol Off J Saudi Gastroenterol Assoc. 2009 Jan;15(1):72-9.
- 124. Harada H, Wakabayashi G, Takayanagi A, Shimazu M, Matsumoto K, Obara H, et al. Transfer of the interleukin-1 receptor antagonist gene into rat liver abrogates hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury. Transplantation. 2002 Nov 1;74(10):1434–41.
- 125. Bruck R, Shirin H, Hershkoviz R, Lider O, Kenet G, Aeed H, et al. Analysis of Arg-Gly-Asp mimetics and soluble receptor of tumour necrosis factor as therapeutic modalities for concanavalin A induced hepatitis in mice. Gut. 1997 Jan;40(1):133–8.
- 126. Raghu G, Brown KK, Costabel U, Cottin V, du Bois RM, Lasky JA, et al. Treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis with etanercept: an exploratory, placebo-controlled trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2008 Nov 1;178(9):948–55.
- 127. Verstovsek S. Therapeutic Potential of JAK2 Inhibitors for the Management of Myelofibrosis. Clin Cancer Res Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res. 2010 Apr 1;16(7):1988.
- 128. Schuppan D, Hahn EG. Interleukin 10: The magic bullet for liver fibrosis? Gastroenterology. 2000 Nov 1;119(5):1412-3.
- 129. Thompson K, Maltby J, Fallowfield J, McAulay M, Millward-Sadler H, Sheron N. Interleukin-10 expression and function in experimental murine liver inflammation and fibrosis. Hepatology. 1998;28(6):1597–606.
- 130. Pockros PJ, Jeffers L, Afdhal N, Goodman ZD, Nelson D, Gish RG, et al. Final results of a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of the antifibrotic efficacy of interferon-gamma1b in chronic hepatitis C patients with advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2007 Mar;45(3):569–78.
- 131. Chalasani N, Younossi Z, Lavine JE, Charlton M, Cusi K, Rinella M, et al. The diagnosis and management of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Practice guidance from the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2018;67(1):328–57.
- 132. Mota M, Banini BA, Cazanave SC, Sanyal AJ. Molecular mechanisms of lipotoxicity and glucotoxicity in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Metabolism. 2016 Aug;65(8):1049–61.
- 133. Yu J, Marsh S, Hu J, Feng W, Wu C. The Pathogenesis of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: Interplay between Diet, Gut Microbiota, and Genetic Background. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2016;2016.
- 134. Benedict M, Zhang X. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: An expanded review. World J Hepatol. 2017 Jun 8;9(16):715-32.
- 135. Lanthier N. Targeting Kupffer cells in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease/non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: Why and how? World J Hepatol. 2015 Sep 8;7(19):2184-8.
- 136. Kiziltas S. Toll-like receptors in pathophysiology of liver diseases. World J Hepatol. 2016 Nov 18;8(32):1354-69.
- 137. Lederer DJ, Martinez FJ. Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2018 May 10;378(19):1811-23.
- 138. Barratt SL, Creamer A, Hayton C, Chaudhuri N. Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis (IPF): An Overview. J Clin Med. 2018 Aug 6;7(8).
- 139. Sgalla G, lovene B, Calvello M, Ori M, Varone F, Richeldi L. Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: pathogenesis and management. Respir Res. 2018;19(1):32.
- 140. Smith RW. Observations upon the "warty ulcer of marjolin." Dublin Q J Med Sci. 1850 May 1;9(2):257–75.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- · Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development



- 141. Dvorak HF. Tumors: wounds that do not heal. Similarities between tumor stroma generation and wound healing. N Engl J Med. 1986 Dec 25;315(26):1650-9.
- 142. Balkwill F, Mantovani A. Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? Lancet Lond Engl. 2001 Feb 17;357(9255):539-45.
- 143. Schäfer M, Werner S. Cancer as an overhealing wound: an old hypothesis revisited. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2008 Aug;9(8):628-38.
- 144. Cirri P, Chiarugi P. Cancer associated fibroblasts: the dark side of the coin. Am J Cancer Res. 2011;1(4):482-97.
- 145. Brücher BL, Jamall IS. Epistemology of the origin of cancer: a new paradigm. BMC Cancer. 2014 May 10;14:331.
- 146. Chandler C, Liu T, Buckanovich R, Coffman LG. The double edge sword of fibrosis in cancer. Transl Res. 2019 Jul 1;209:55–67.
- 147. Egeblad M, Rasch MG, Weaver VM. Dynamic interplay between the collagen scaffold and tumor evolution. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2010 Oct;22(5):697-706.
- 148. Provenzano PP, Eliceiri KW, Campbell JM, Inman DR, White JG, Keely PJ. Collagen reorganization at the tumor-stromal interface facilitates local invasion. BMC Med. 2006 Dec 26;4:38.
- 149. Levental KR, Yu H, Kass L, Lakins JN, Egeblad M, Erler JT, et al. Matrix Crosslinking Forces Tumor Progression by Enhancing Integrin signaling. Cell. 2009 Nov 25;139(5):891–906.
- 150. Croft DR, Sahai E, Mavria G, Li S, Tsai J, Lee WMF, et al. Conditional ROCK activation *in vivo* induces tumor cell dissemination and angiogenesis. Cancer Res. 2004 Dec 15;64(24):8994–9001.
- 151. Miranti CK, Brugge JS. Sensing the environment: a historical perspective on integrin signal transduction. Nat Cell Biol. 2002 Apr;4(4):E83-90.
- 152. Paszek MJ, Zahir N, Johnson KR, Lakins JN, Rozenberg GI, Gefen A, et al. Tensional homeostasis and the malignant phenotype. Cancer Cell. 2005 Sep;8(3):241–54.
- 153. Rybinski B, Franco-Barraza J, Cukierman E. The wound healing, chronic fibrosis, and cancer progression triad. Physiol Genomics. 2014 Apr 1;46(7):223-44.
- 154. Jodele S, Blavier L, Yoon JM, DeClerck YA. Modifying the soil to affect the seed: role of stromal-derived matrix metalloproteinases in cancer progression. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2006 Mar;25(1):35–43.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- Purpose and scope
- Fibrosis at a glance

General knowledge

- Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts
- TGF-β1 signaling
- · Myofibroblasts and their differentiation
- The Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Wound-healing, tissues repair and fibrosis

- Overview
- Innate immunity actors of fibrosis
- Adaptive immunity actors of fibrosis
- Treating and reversing progressive fibrosis

Key fibrosis-related pathologies

- NAFLD-associated liver fibrosis
- Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Fibrosis relation to tumor development

ſe∖



www.revvity.com



Revvity, Inc. 940 Winter Street, Waltham, MA 02451 USA (800) 762-4000 | www.revvity.com

For a complete listing of our global offices, visit www.revvity.com Copyright ©2023, Revvity, Inc. All rights reserved.

203705